

Institute of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology College of Life Science National Taiwan University Master Thesis

種內合作如何與資源共同影響族群動態

Cooperation and lateral forces: moving beyond bottom-up and top-down drivers of animal population dynamics

陳映妤

#### Ying-Yu Chen

指導教授:沈聖峰 博士

Advisor: Sheng-Feng Shen, Ph.D.

中華民國 109 年 6 月

June, 2020

誌謝

韶光荏苒,轉眼間已在 ESS lab 待了近四年。

四年是一段不短的時間,在ESS lab,我從大二大三的懵懂天真逐漸成長為 現在自己還算滿意的樣子,這中間實在發生過太多事。大三時投身於系上活動, 大四、碩一時憂鬱纏身,研究上的進展始終起伏不定。加上焦慮性格使然,總覺 得未知的太多,能發揮的精力太過有限,惶惶惑惑之時曾不認為自己未來能從事 科學研究。幸好這些分神與低潮都被ESS lab 接納了,尤其感謝老師聖峰給予我 充分的空間與彈性,儘管他的想法總是跳躍得很快,但允許我像烏龜一樣慢慢的 爬。

做理論研究是有點孤獨的,畢竟同行的人少之又少,不會有一起在蟲室做實 驗的閒話家常,也少有機會和其他夥伴討論資料與分析。幸而在這路上還是有人 給我及時的指點或珍貴的建議,使我少了一點卡關、多了一點探索的可能性。謝 謝昌祐在我進實驗室之初領我入門,給我一些畫圖上的建議,這些建議在我日後 呈現結果的時候非常有用。我也感謝劉銘時不時與我討論我的模式的細節,指出 其中我未曾細想過但可能不合理之處,經過數次的修改,模式才變成現在所呈現 的樣子。此外,劉銘也會推薦我一些重要的科學文章,分享自己所知以及申請學 校的經驗,這些都幫助我在研究上或申請學校上有更明確的方向,十分感謝!

我也很慶幸在做理論研究之餘,有去四川做實驗的機會,讓我能親身體會如 何為了一個科學問題設計實驗,以及其中現實的限制與困難,並在做理論研究之 時能與現實的生物做連結,更可貴的是,在這三年夏天的四川野外,我認識了一 群很棒的共事夥伴。謝謝彥廷在第一年的四川野外帶著毫無經驗的我做實驗,小 至如何接電線,大至如何解決所關心的科學問題,彥廷都一一詳盡解說。還記得 在彥廷車上吹著風聽著有點年代的搖滾的逍遙,因為交通管制徒步上山收陷阱的 暢快的疲累,還有某次探險到擋巴溝頂端見識到宏偉瑰麗的山勢,或許是這些經 驗讓我更喜歡山的吧。我也要謝謝老師聖峰在坐鎮四川之時常常協助我出野外, 開車開過最危險刁鑽的地形,並教了我許多野外技巧,讓我走在山上不在那麼跌 跌撞撞。謝謝崇凡時常跟我討論箱子實驗(及至研究)的大小事,因為工作性質 類似、常常得晚上標蟲,所以讓我有比較不孤單的感覺。謝謝詩蘋在第二年四川 野外成為我很有力的搭檔,非常清楚我的實驗規劃,所以每次出野外都很有效 率,也謝謝她在我第三年因病撑不下去的時候接手我的工作。謝謝任凡時常給予 心理上的支持,並在我撐不下去時分擔了不少野外工作。謝謝郁盟載著當時還不 會開車的我去了好幾趟險惡的炳陽溝。謝謝宗佑、勳承讓野外變得更有趣~最 後,也謝謝大家都願意犧牲自己的時間幫忙餵蟲,包括前面未提及的憶晴、宇 恆、佑得、陳鈺。

在我碩二上學期一邊被憂鬱纏身,一邊焦頭爛額的申請學校時,特別感謝老師慧瑜和傳愷的關心,謝謝老師們花了一大段時間陪我聊天,不只傾聽我的煩惱,也給了我不少有實質幫助的建議,例如慧瑜老師分享參與科學研究的女性經驗、適應策略及反思,就給了我切身的溫暖支持(平常會接觸到的研究生、老師多半是男性);而傳愷老師分享自己如何從正向的角度看待自己完成了多少事,而非從負向的角度指責自己尚未完成什麼事,也點醒了我,讓我發現自己似乎鮮少給自己正向的回饋,並開始練習換個角度看待事物。真的由衷感謝老師們願意花時間分享自身經驗,真切地與我交流。

此外,我也很感謝老師 Zac 和慧瑜讓我參加他們的 lab meeting,每週聽聽大 家報告各自領域的研究,在聽講與討論的過程中受益良多。也謝謝 meeting 的夥 伴們總是在我報告之後熱情的發問或給予回饋,儘管我們的領域是相差那麼多。

在當研究生的日常中,尤其感謝同為研究生的老王的支持,以及互相陪伴走 過研究生活的不確定性與徬徨。我也謝謝仕凡和譯心的陪伴與支持,謝謝你們偶 爾抽空陪我吃飯,聊聊生活與研究,特別謝謝譯心,有你的馬來西亞很好玩,有 你煮的奶茶很溫暖。謝謝崇凡和我一起煩惱研究生的煩惱,謝謝宗佑偶爾的關



#### 摘要

生態學家早已知道,動物的族群動態是由上行力(bottom-up forces)(例如資源可利用性)和下行力(top-down forces)(例如捕食)所共同決定的。然而,一 些經濟學家指出人口動態也受到合作的影響,這是生態學家很少考慮的概念。在 這裡,我們透過建構將環境條件、合作和族群大小結合在一起的個體為本模式 (individual-based model),來考慮「橫向力量」(例如作用於族群內的種間合作) 對族群動態的作用。在證明環境質量同時影響合作和資源可利用性之後,我們發 現由於資源可利用性對合作和族群大小的對比影響,在中等資源水平下社會性生 物的族群大小會大於非社會性生物。最終,我們的結果顯示,社會性族群比非社 會性族群對環境變化的適應力更強,這是因為合作的好處可能大於資源匱乏的影響。在氣候變化時代,了解環境如何影響包括我們自己在內的社會物種的族群動 態至關重要。

關鍵字:合作、族群動態、恢復力

#### Abstract

Ecologists have long known that animal population dynamics are determined by a combination of bottom-up (resource availability) and top-down forces (predation). However, some economists have shown that human population dynamics are also influenced by cooperation, a concept seldom considered by ecologists. Here we consider the role of "lateral forces" on population dynamics by constructing an individual-based model linking environmental conditions, cooperation, and population size. After showing that environmental quality influences both cooperation and resource availability, we find that sizes of social populations will be greater than those of non-social populations under intermediate resources levels due to the contrasting effects that resource availability has on cooperation and population size. Ultimately, we show that social populations are more resilient to environmental change than non-social ones because the benefits of cooperation can outweigh the effects of low resource availability. Understanding how the environment influences population dynamics of social species, including our own, is critical in era of climate change.

Keywords: cooperation, population dynamics, resilience

v

#### Contents

Contents	10101			
誌謝i	10101			
摘要iv				
Abstract v				
Contents vi				
List of tables viii				
List of figures ix				
1. Introduction				
1.1 Two contrasting views on the relationship between resource availability and				
population dynamics1				
1.2 Intraspecific cooperation: an overlooked "lateral force" acting within				
populations 2				
1.3 Brief review on the relevant theoretical studies				
1.4 Research aims				
2. The model				
2.1 General description				
2.2 Life cycles of individuals7				
2.3 Populations in fluctuating environments				
3. Results				
3.1 Environmental quality and the evolution of cooperation				
3.2 Joint influence of environmental quality and cooperation on population				
dynamics 12				
3.3 Stability of population dynamics in a fluctuating environment				
4. Discussion				
4.1 The significance of the research				

	4.2 Complex relationships among environmental conditions, cooperation and
	population dynamics
	4.3 Cooperation can facilitate social species to expand their niche width
	4.4 Social species have greater population resilience to environmental fluctuation 18
	4.5 Model limitations
	4.5 Concluding remarks
5.	Reference
6.	Table
7.	Figures

#### List of tables

 Table 1: Summary of model parameters



### List of figures

List of figures
Fig. 1: A schematic diagram for the model
Fig. 2: Proportion of cooperators in populations in relation to environmental resource
availability and cooperation efficiency
Fig. 3: The outcome of the evolution of cooperation influenced by varying environmental
resource availability
Fig. 4: Comparison of the relationship between total reproductive output and cooperation
benefit of groups in different environments
Fig. 5: The combined effects of environmental resource availability and degree of
cooperation on population size
Fig. 6: Population dynamics and relative variability in population size in a fluctuating
environment
Fig. 7: Degree of cooperation changes with the fluctuation of environmental resource
availability
Fig. S1: The evolutionary outcome and the population size of non-structured
populations

#### **1. Introduction**

1.1 Two contrasting views on the relationship between resource availability and population dynamics

The abundance or carrying capacity of animal populations is often determined by top-down forces like predation pressure or bottom-up forces like resource availability (Anne & Rudy, 1997; Berryman, 2004; Hopfenberg, 2003; Melis et al., 2009; Rutz & Bijlsma Rob, 2006; Schluter & Repasky, 1991; Walankiewicz, 2002), both of which can be influenced by environmental conditions. The role of bottom-up forces extends the view of resource-constrained populations proposed by the economist Thomas Malthus over two centuries ago (Malthus, 1798). Not only is Malthus' view on resourceconstrained population dynamics still widely held in ecology (Gotelli, 2008; Lomnicki, 1988; May & McLean, 2007; Molles, 2016), his view on the human struggle for existence remains central to the theory of evolution by natural selection (Darwin, 1859). After the industrial revolution, however, the growth of the world's population prompted economists to reconsider the role of resources in human population dynamics (Brown, 1954; Cépède, Houtart, & Grond, 1964; Cohen, 1995). More than a half century ago, the economist Esther Boserup (Boserup, 1965) further proposed that high population density stimulated human cooperation in order to improve agricultural efficiency, thereby increasing resource supply to match the needs of a growing population. In

contrast to the views of Malthus, Boserup hypothesized that human populations can overcome resource constraints and thrive through cooperation. Whether human populations can actually escape from resource limitation by cooperating remains a topic of great debate to this day (Decker & Reuveny, 2005; Demont, Jouve, Stessens, & Tollens, 2007; Lipton, 1989; Richerson & Boyd, 1997; Urdal, 2005).

#### 1.2 Intraspecific cooperation: an overlooked "lateral force" acting within

#### populations

As an extension of Boserup's ideas, intraspecific cooperation can be considered to be a "lateral force" that acts within populations and interacts with external top-down and bottom-up forces to regulate population size. Although the role of cooperation has been widely discussed in studies of human population dynamics (Ellis, Magliocca, Stevens, & Fuller, 2018; Hamilton et al., 2009), it is rarely considered in studies of population dynamics in other animals. One exception comes from studies of microbes (de Vargas Roditi, Boyle, & Xavier, 2013; Gore, Youk, & van Oudenaarden, 2009; Sanchez & Gore, 2013) that have explored the impact of cooperation on population growth (Gore et al., 2009; Rainey & Rainey, 2003) or the interaction between cooperation and population dynamics (Sanchez & Gore, 2013). Yet, given that harsh environments are thought to favor cooperation in microbes (Bottery, Wood, & Brockhurst, 2016; Frost et al., 2018; Yurtsev, Chao, Datta, Artemova, & Gore, 2013), as they do in other social animals (Firman, Rubenstein, Moran, Rowe, & Buzatto, 2020; Jetz & Rubenstein, 2011; Lukas & Clutton-Brock, 2017; Rubenstein & Lovette, 2007), how environment-associated cooperation affects population dynamics remains largely unstudied in any organism.

#### 1.3 Brief review on the relevant theoretical studies

Although initial theoretical work on cooperative behavior tended to focus on the emergence and maintenance of cooperation by studying the dynamics of cooperators and free riders in populations of fixed size (Axelrod & Hamilton, 1981; Ohtsuki, Hauert, Lieberman, & Nowak, 2006; Traulsen & Nowak, 2006; Weitz, Eksin, Paarporn, Brown, & Ratcliff, 2016), more recent studies have begun to consider populations that vary in size (Epstein, 1998; Zhang & Hui, 2011). Indeed, eco-evolutionary feedbacks between cooperative behavior and population dynamics often induce coexistence of cooperators and defectors (Hauert, Holmes, & Doebeli, 2006; Sanchez & Gore, 2013). Yet, the role of resource availability in driving these eco-evolutionary feedbacks remains poorly known. Environmental harshness, which reduces resource availability (Allison, 2005; Wang & Goldenfeld, 2011) and increases mortality (Yurtsev et al., 2013; Zhang & Hui, 2011), tends to favor cooperation (Smaldino, Schank, & McElreath, 2013). Yet, clarifying the interactions between resource availability (a bottom-up force) and intraspecific cooperation (a lateral force) on population dynamics remain a challenge for theoretical biologists. Simultaneous consideration of the relationships among population dynamics, cooperation, and resource availability is necessary to more fully understand how social species and populations respond to resource constraints and other environmental challenges.

#### **1.4 Research aims**

To capture the essence of a social population and formulate the theory about the relationships among population dynamics, cooperation, and resource availability, it is necessary to construct a model to address this subject. Individuals' cooperative behaviour and their interactions with each other and with other elements of their environment play an important role in impacting the properties of a social population. Most importantly, individuals are adaptive, and adaptation, from which population-level properties emerge, occurs at individual-level, not higher levels. Therefore, individual-based modeling is a suitable approach to explore the emergent properties at the population level in which we are interested. Here, we model how environmental conditions and the benefits of cooperation shape the evolution of asexual and structured populations with overlapping generations. We assume that there are two types of

- 4 -

individuals in the population: free-riders, who do not contribute to creating group benefits, and cooperators, who invest in creating benefits that are shared by all group members at the cost of decreasing the cooperator's own fitness. Groups interact in the population through random offspring dispersal. Population size is not externally assumed, but instead emerges from the dynamics of birth and death processes that are influenced by both environmental conditions and individual behavioral strategies (Fig. 1). We first consider environments of differing quality (harsh environments with low resource availability versus benign environments with high resource availability) to elucidate the relationship between environmental quality and the evolution of cooperation. To tease out the ecological consequences of cooperation, we then compare the population size and the niche breadth of social and non-social populations. Ultimately, we model population dynamics in a fluctuating environment with varying levels of resources to explore how social populations respond to environmental changes.

#### 2. The model

#### 2.1 General description



We use an individual-based model to simulate the dynamics of structured populations consisting of cooperators and noncooperators (free riders). Cooperators produce benefits (group resources that are shared equally by the group members) at a cost to themselves. Individuals have different genetically-determined levels of cooperative investment, which determine the group resources that they generate. Group resources are essential for individual's reproduction. In other words, more cooperators generate greater group resources, which leads to a higher average reproduction rate of the group members. In contrast, noncooperators provide no benefit to their groups and bear no cost; they simply consume the group resources.

For a comparison with social populations, we also model nonsocial populations consisting exclusively of noncooperators. For simplicity, we consider asexual populations with a mutation rate equal to 0.001, which means the probability that every newborn offspring born from cooperators (noncooperators) mutate into noncooperators (cooperators) is 0.001. At the beginning of each simulation, population size is set to 300, proportion of cooperators is set to 0.01 (to ensure that), and all cooperators and free-riders are randomly divided into 90 groups, which is a level of social structure between individual and population levels. We assume that the interaction among individuals happens only within groups. That is, the group resources generated by the cooperators are only shared by the individuals in the same group. For comparison, we also model the scenario of non-structured populations and found that cooperation cannot evolve in such a scenario (Fig. S1), as has been found in other studies (Zhang & Hui, 2011).

Within every simulation time step, cooperators generate group resources, all individuals consume resources and reproduce, and some individuals die. After individuals produce offspring, the offspring disperse and randomly join a group. The total number of time steps in a simulation is 10,000, which means that the evolutionary process lasts 10,000 years (roughly several thousand generations), to ensure that the system settles into relatively stable dynamics (Strogatz, 2001). We record the proportion of cooperators in populations, the average degree of cooperation that an individuals exhibits, the population size, and the total and per capita reproductive output of each group throughout the process. These properties spontaneously emerge from individuallevel interactions.

All variables and parameters are summarized in Table 1.

#### 2.2 Life cycles of individuals

The individuals will undergo the following process during a time step:

At the beginning, individuals equally share the group resources  $(R_{i,t})$ , where *i* denotes the *i*<sup>th</sup> group and *t* denotes the *t*<sup>th</sup> time step). Therefore, when there are  $N_{i,t}$  individuals in the *i*<sup>th</sup> group, each individual's resource consumption  $(s_{i,t})$  is equal to  $R_{i,t}/N_{i,t}$ .

Group resources is determined by environmental resource availability ( $R_0$ ) and cooperation benefits ( $b_K \sum_j \phi_{K_{i,j}}$ ).  $b_K$  denotes cooperation efficiency, and  $\phi_{K_{i,j}}$  with eleven levels (0.0, 0.1, 0.2, ..., 1.0) denotes the  $j^{th}$  individual's degree of cooperation, which is genetically-determined and affects the individual's level of cooperative investment, in the  $i^{th}$  group. Group resources is a saturating function of cooperation benefits ( $b_K \sum_j \phi_{K_{i,j}}$ ), which is analogous to Monod equation (Monod, 1949):

$$R_{i,t} = R_0 \left( 1 + I \cdot \frac{b_K \sum_j \phi_{K_{i,j}}}{\frac{IR_0}{2} + b_K \sum_j \phi_{K_{i,j}}} \right),$$

where *I* is the maximum resource increment rate. For the groups without cooperators generating group benefits,  $R_{i,t} = R_0$ .

Next, individuals produce offspring, and the offspring disperse and randomly join a group. The number of offspring the  $j^{th}$  individual can produce (reproduction rate  $F_{i,j,t}$ ) is a saturating function of the amount of resource it consumed in the form of Monod equation (Monod, 1949) and also depends on the cost of cooperation:

$$F_{i,j,t} = \alpha \left( 1 - \beta \phi_{K_{i,j}} \right) \cdot \frac{s_{i,t} - M}{K_s + (s_{i,t} - M)},$$

where  $\alpha$  denotes the maximum reproduction rate of an individual,  $\beta$  ( $0 < \beta \le 1$ ) is

defined as the percentage decrease in reproduction rate caused by per unit cooperation degree ( $\phi_{K_{i,j}}$ ), M is a constant and represents the metabolic consumption of an individual, which is a threshold for reproduction, and  $K_s$  is the "half-saturation constant", which is the value of the individual energy for reproduction ( $s_{i,t} - M$ ) at which reproduction rate ( $F_{i,i,t}$ ) is half of its maximum.

Finally, the system determines whether individuals survive. The survival rate  $(r_{i,j,t})$  of the  $j^{th}$  individual in the  $i^{th}$  group decreases as it gets older:

$$r_{i,j,t} = c \cdot exp\left(-\frac{age_{i,j,t}}{age_{const}}\right),$$

where c is a constant between 0 and 1. For the offspring born at the  $t^{th}$  time step,  $r_{i,j,t} = c$  because  $age_{i,j,t} = 0$ .

#### 2.3 Populations in fluctuating environments

Ultimately, we introduce environmental fluctuation into the system. Environmental resource availability  $(R_{0_t})$  periodically fluctuates in a sine function:

$$R_{0_t} = R_{0_0} + Asin\left(\frac{2\pi t}{P}\right),$$

where A denotes the amplitude and P denotes the period. We record the time series of the proportion of cooperators, the average degree of cooperation, and the population size. To derive the trend in population dynamics, we average the time series from 500 replicates of simulations. We further use time-lagged cross-correlation (TLCC) to quantify synchrony between environmental fluctuation and population dynamics at the relatively stable state, and evaluate the variation of the population size by converting the time series of the population size variation standardized by the mean to the frequency spectra using a fast Fourier transformation (Dillon et al., 2016).

豪

#### 3. Results



#### 3.1 Environmental quality and the evolution of cooperation

We found that the evolution of cooperative behavior is determined jointly by the amount of available environmental resources and the benefits of cooperation. Cooperation, in terms of both the proportion of cooperators in the population and the average degree of cooperation that each individual exhibits, is more likely to evolve when environmental condition are harsh (i.e. low resource availability) and when the benefits of cooperation are large (Figs. 2 and 3). This is because individuals are generally unable to produce offspring with the few resources generated by cooperators in harsh environments (Fig. 4a). Thus, free riders cannot persist without cooperators under harsh environmental conditions. In addition, although both cooperators and free riders share the group resources generated by cooperators (but only the cooperators have to pay personal costs), cooperators in groups with more group resources can still have more offspring than individuals in groups with fewer cooperators and group resources in harsh environments (Fig. 4a). However, resources generated by cooperators play a smaller role in impacting reproduction in benign environments because available environmental resources are already abundant (Fig. 4b). As a consequence, cooperation is maintained in harsh environments, particularly when the benefit of cooperating is high.

## 3.2 Joint influence of environmental quality and cooperation on population dynamics

Next, we explored how environmental quality and cooperation jointly influence population dynamics. We found that population size in social organisms is affected by environmental quality both directly in terms of resource availability and indirectly by its effect on the number of cooperators and the degree of cooperation within the population. When the benefit of cooperating is small, population size is largely determined by environmental quality, resulting in a population that is similar in size to one without cooperators (Fig. 5a). However, as the benefit of cooperating becomes greater, population size is determined by both environmental quality and cooperation (Fig. 5b). When the benefit of cooperating becomes very large, population size increases abruptly with an increase in environmental quality (i.e. an increase in resources) and then stays relatively constant (Fig. 5c). This result can be explained by the fact that the average degree of cooperation is also modulated by environmental quality in such a way that individuals are less cooperative in benign than in harsh environments (Fig. 2). Therefore, the positive effect of additional resources in benign environments is canceled out by the negative effect of additional free riders. Moreover, additional cooperators in harsh environments compensate for any negative effects of resource scarcity. Furthermore, we showed that social populations possess an advantage in harsh

environments with low resource availability when the benefit of cooperating is great enough to outweigh any effects of resource limitation on population size. This result implies that social populations can have wider ecological niches (i.e., can occur in environments with a wider range of resource availability) than non-social populations due solely to the fact that individuals cooperate.

#### 3.3 Stability of population dynamics in a fluctuating environment

Finally, we compared the population dynamics of cooperative and noncooperative populations in a changing environment. We found that the dynamics of noncooperative populations tend to synchronize with environmental fluctuation (Fig. 6a and 6c), whereas the dynamics of cooperative populations do not (Fig. 6b and 6d). Population size increases after environmental conditions become extremely harsh, but decreases as conditions become more benign. In addition, the values of peaks in the frequency spectra of population size variation in noncooperative populations are higher than in cooperative populations (Fig. 6e and 6f), which indicates that cooperative populations are more stable than noncooperative ones in a changing environment because the pattern of cooperation is also modulated by environmental conditions (i.e., they are more cooperative in harsher environments), which can buffer the effect of changing environmental conditions on population size (Fig. 7).

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1 The significance of the research



Our results show that environmental conditions have an impact on the size and carrying capacity of social species in complex ways (Fig. 5) by affecting both the degree of cooperation and the dynamics between cooperators and noncooperators (i.e. free riders) (Fig. 3). Our model therefore provides a theoretical framework for understanding the ecological causes (e.g., environmental harshness) and consequences (e.g. niche width) of cooperation. Three main results emerge from our model: (1) there will be complex relationships among environmental conditions, cooperation, and population dynamics (Fig. 5); (2) cooperation can facilitate social species to expand their niche width in terms of resource abundance (Fig. 5) and stability (Fig. 6); and (3) social species have greater population resilience to environmental fluctuation than non-social ones (Fig. 6). We explain these results in greater detail below.

## 4.2 Complex relationships among environmental conditions, cooperation and population dynamics

Our results show an unexpected relationship between environmental quality and population size in social organisms (Fig. 5). Despite resource scarcity, the size of a social population can be larger in harsh environments than in benign ones if the benefit of cooperating is high enough. This pattern contradicts the Malthusian view of resourceconstrained population dynamics, which does not consider the impact of cooperation on population size. It also differs from Boserup's idea that high population density drives cooperation to facilitate population growth, since the degree of cooperation is also determined by environmental conditions. In a benign environment, free-riders account for the majority of individuals in a population, and thus there is little benefit of cooperating for further population growth. Therefore, our model synthesizes Malthus' view of resource-constrained population dynamics (Malthus, 1798) with Boserup's idea that cooperation drives population growth (e.g. via agricultural innovation in humans) (Boserup, 1965). We show that environmental quality influence population dynamics both directly (via resource availability) and indirectly (via the degree of intraspecific cooperation within the population).

The magnitude of the benefit of cooperating play an important role in shaping the relationship between environmental quality and population size. When the benefit of cooperating is low, the impact of cooperation on population size is weak, and thus the size of a social population—similar to that of non-social one—is mainly determined by environmental conditions (Fig. 5a). However, when the benefit of cooperating is high, cooperation can strongly influence population size (Fig. 5c). In addition, the degree to which cooperators invest in creating group resources depends on the environmental

conditions, such that they contribute more in harsh environments and less in benign environments (Fig. 3). Consequently, the direct relationship between environmental quality and population size is less clear than has been previously assumed.

Two important implications can be drawn from this observation. First, ecologists often assume that better environmental conditions lead to larger populations (Gotelli, 2008; Molles, 2016). Yet, to the best of our knowledge, few empirical studies examine the relationship between resource availability and size of social populations. Our finding highlights the need to empirically test such assumptions in social species by quantifying lateral forces—the degree of intraspecific cooperation—to understand their impact on population size. Second, the booming human population sizes of the past century are often considered as evidence that human populations are not limited by resources (Kögel & Prskawetz, 2001; Steinmann, Prskawetz, & Feichtinger, 1998). However, we caution against such a view (Boserup, 1965), since our model suggests that the effect of resource availability on the degree of cooperation within a population can also influence population dynamics and constrain population sizes. Thus, empirically testing the direct and indirect relationships among environmental quality, cooperation, and population dynamics is urgently needed in social species, including our own.

- 16 -

#### 4.3 Cooperation can facilitate social species to expand their niche width

If we consider resource availability as a dimension of niche space, we can deduce that social species have a wider fundamental niche breadth than non-social ones (Fig. 5). However, it should be noted that this study has not considered the confounding effects of body size and thermal affinity on niche breadth. Despite its limitation, this study does suggest cooperation helps social species to maintain positive population growth even when the environments are harsh, i.e. with scarce resources if the benefit of cooperation is large. This result supports and provide a more complete theoretical foundation for the social conquest hypothesis. The ecological consequences of cooperation, such as how cooperation influences the abundance and the niche width, has been rarely tested empirically. Although Wilson has long argued that ants and human are the two most dominant species on earth because of their ability to cooperate and form groups (Wilson, 1987, 2012), to our knowledge, few formal analyses or evidence exist. One exception is a study in Asian burying beetles, it has been found that social groups are more cooperative in harsher, hotter environments with more intense inter-specific competition than in benign environments (Sun et al., 2014). As a consequence, social groups are able to expand their thermal niche to harsher, hotter environments than the solitary groups.

Since wider niche width often leads to larger geographic range size and higher

abundance (Slatyer, Hirst, & Sexton, 2013), we also predict that social species will likely have larger geographic range size of species. Indeed, it has been found that in starlings, cooperation occurs more frequently in the harsh environments and that cooperative species have larger range sizes than non-cooperative ones (Lin, Chan, Rubenstein, Liu, & Shen, 2019). However, they also found that cooperation does not influence range size of species in hornbills and that hornbills cooperate only when resources are abundant, presumably due to the habitat saturation caused by high population density, which are different from the scenario described in our model. In short, more studies comparing the niche width and geographic range size of social and non-social species will help us understand the generality of this prediction.

#### 4.4 Social species have greater population resilience to environmental fluctuation

We found that in fluctuating environments, the size of social populations is more stable than that of non-social populations (Fig. 6) because environment-associated cooperation buffers the impact of environmental fluctuations on social populations. In other words, the key mechanism leading to population resilience of social species is that they are more cooperative in harsh than benign environments (Fig. 2, 3, and 7). A study of social microbes also found that social populations are more resilient to environmental disturbance (i.e. experimentally lower population density) than non-social ones because more cooperators generate greater public resources (public goods) (Sanchez & Gore, 2013). However, this study assumed that environmental resource availability was stable and the only change in the experiment was lowering the population density. Thus, population resilience in this study meant that populations could survive through periods of low density but not environmental harshness per se, and the population dynamics were driven by density-dependent processes such that more cooperators in the population generated greater public goods. Several theoretical studies have investigated this density-dependent process (Epstein, 1998; Hauert et al., 2006; Zhang & Hui, 2011), showing similar patterns of dynamics: abundant public goods generated by cooperators favor the rise of free-riders who do not invest in producing public goods, eventually resulting in an overall reduction of public goods. As public goods became scarce, cooperators are favored by selection again. However, since environmental conditions such as resource availability are assumed constant, these studies cannot determine how bottom-up forces influence the interaction between population and evolutionary dynamics. In contrast, our model suggests that environmental quality can influence both the evolution of cooperation and population dynamics, a result that should be incorporated in future empirical studies.

#### 4.5 Model limitations

Our model indicates that the relationship between resource availability and size of social population is more complex than previously assumed. However, the finding of this study has been primarily concerned with the indirect effect of environmental quality via degree of intraspecific cooperation on population growth. This model has not considered other individual traits related to population growth.

Some studies show that cooperation is more likely to evolve in benign environments (Leticia Avilés et al., 2007), which contrasts our results. This inconsistency may be due to the differences in the benefits of forming social groups. Dual-benefit hypothesis suggest that animals form social groups for two main reasons: coping with environmental harshness or intraspecific competition and outcompete conspecifics (Shen, Emlen, Koenig, & Rubenstein, 2017). Some animals are more likely to form social groups to overcome environmental challenges, whereas others are more likely to do so to compete with their conspecifics. In our model, we have only considered that individuals cooperate to coping with environmental harshness (i.e., low resource availability). Therefore, the lack of consideration of both dual benefits means that we cannot be certain that cooperation must evolve under certain conditions.

#### 4.5 Concluding remarks

As the earth continues to warm, its climate is becoming increasingly unpredictable (Salinger, 2005; Schär et al., 2004). Some studies have argued that climate changedriven resource scarcity will lead to increased armed conflict in human societies, a truly neo-Malthusian perspective (Nordås & Gleditsch, 2007; Raleigh & Kniveton, 2012; Scheffran & Battaglini, 2011). Yet, other studies have argued that the environmental problems caused by climate change will not exacerbate violent conflict (Benjaminsen, Alinon, Buhaug, & Buseth, 2012; Gleditsch, 2012), and may even promote peace and greater cooperation (Slettebak, 2012). Based on our models exploring environmental quality, social interactions, and population dynamics, we predict that harsh environments-those with low resource availability-will also promote more cooperation in human societies depending on the types of cooperative benefits that can be generated under different environmental conditions. Empirical studies testing our model predictions by comparing patterns of cooperation under different environmental scenarios, as well as those examining population fluctuation and stability between social and non-social species, will be of great importance for understanding the future dynamics of social species, including our own.

#### 5. Reference

- Allison, S. D. (2005). Cheaters, diffusion and nutrients constrain decomposition by microbial enzymes in spatially structured environments. *Ecology Letters*, 8(6), 626-635. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00756.x
- Anne, H. H., & Rudy, B. (1997). Population limitation in Arctic ground squirrels: effects of food and predation. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 66(4), 527-541. doi:10.2307/5947
- Axelrod, R., & Hamilton, W. D. (1981). The evolution of cooperation. *Science*, *211*(4489), 1390-1396. doi:10.1126/science.7466396
- Benjaminsen, T. A., Alinon, K., Buhaug, H., & Buseth, J. T. (2012). Does climate change drive land-use conflicts in the Sahel? *Journal of Peace Research*, 49(1), 97-111. doi:10.1177/0022343311427343
- Berryman, A. A. (2004). Limiting factors and population regulation. *Oikos, 105*(3), 667-670. doi:10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.13381.x

Boserup, E. (1965). The Conditions of Agricultural Growth. London: Allen and Unwin.

Bottery, M. J., Wood, A. J., & Brockhurst, M. A. (2016). Selective conditions for a multidrug resistance plasmid depend on the sociality of antibiotic resistance. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 60(4), 2524-2527.

- 22 -

doi:10.1128/AAC.02441-15

- Brown, H. (1954). The Challenge of Man's Future: An Inquiry Concerning the Condition of Man During the Years that Lie Ahead. New York, N. Y.: Viking Press.
- Cépède, M., Houtart, F., & Grond, L. (1964). *Population and Food*. New York, N. Y.: Sheed & Ward.
- Cohen, J. E. (1995). Population growth and earth's human carrying capacity. *Science*, 269(5222), 341-346. doi:10.1126/science.7618100
- Darwin, C. (1859). On the Origin of Species by Means of Natural Selection or the Preservation of Favored Races in the Struggle for Life. London: Murray.
- de Vargas Roditi, L., Boyle, K. E., & Xavier, J. B. (2013). Multilevel selection analysis of a microbial social trait. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 9(1), 684. doi:10.1038/msb.2013.42
- Decker, C. S., & Reuveny, R. (2005). Endogenous technological progress and the Malthusian trap: could Simon and Boserup have saved Easter Island? *Human Ecology*, 33(1), 119-140. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/4603559
- Demont, M., Jouve, P., Stessens, J., & Tollens, E. (2007). Boserup versus Malthus revisited: Evolution of farming systems in northern Côte d'Ivoire. *Agricultural Systems*, 93(1), 215-228. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2006.05.006</u>
- Dillon, M. E., Woods, H. A., Wang, G., Fey, S. B., Vasseur, D. A., Telemeco, R. S., ...

Pincebourde, S. (2016). Life in the Frequency Domain: the Biological Impacts of Changes in Climate Variability at Multiple Time Scales. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, *56*(1), 14-30. doi:10.1093/icb/icw024 %J Integrative and Comparative Biology

- Ellis, E. C., Magliocca, N. R., Stevens, C. J., & Fuller, D. Q. (2018). Evolving the Anthropocene: linking multi-level selection with long-term social–ecological change. *Sustainability Science*, *13*(1), 119-128. doi:10.1007/s11625-017-0513-6
- Epstein, J. M. (1998). Zones of cooperation in demographic prisoner's dilemma. *Complexity*, 4(2), 36-48. doi:10.1002/(sici)1099-0526(199811/12)4:2<36::Aid-cplx9>3.0.Co;2-z
- Firman, R. C., Rubenstein, D. R., Moran, J. M., Rowe, K. C., & Buzatto, B. A. (2020). Extreme and Variable Climatic Conditions Drive the Evolution of Sociality in Australian Rodents. *Current Biology*, 30(4), 691-697.e693.

doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.12.012

- Frost, I., Smith, W. P. J., Mitri, S., Millan, A. S., Davit, Y., Osborne, J. M., . . . Foster, K.
  R. (2018). Cooperation, competition and antibiotic resistance in bacterial
  colonies. *The ISME Journal*, *12*(6), 1582-1593. doi:10.1038/s41396-018-0090-4
- Gleditsch, N. P. (2012). Whither the weather? Climate change and conflict. *Journal of Peace Research*, 49(1), 3-9. doi:10.1177/0022343311431288

- Gore, J., Youk, H., & van Oudenaarden, A. (2009). Snowdrift game dynamics and facultative cheating in yeast. *Nature*, *459*(7244), 253-256. doi:10.1038/nature07921
- Gotelli, N. J. (2008). A Primer of Ecology (4th ed.). Sunderland, M.A.: Sinauer Associates. Inc.
- Hamilton, M. J., Burger, O., DeLong, J. P., Walker, R. S., Moses, M. E., & Brown, J. H. (2009). Population stability, cooperation, and the invasibility of the human species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *106*(30), 12255-12260. doi:10.1073/pnas.0905708106
- Hauert, C., Holmes, M., & Doebeli, M. (2006). Evolutionary games and population dynamics: maintenance of cooperation in public goods games. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 273(1600), 2565-2571. doi:doi:10.1098/rspb.2006.3600
- Hopfenberg, R. (2003). Human carrying capacity is determined by food availability. *Population and environment, 25*(2), 109-117.

doi:10.1023/B:POEN.0000015560.69479.c1

Jetz, W., & Rubenstein, D. R. (2011). Environmental Uncertainty and the Global Biogeography of Cooperative Breeding in Birds. *Current Biology*, 21(1), 72-78.

doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.11.075

Kögel, T., & Prskawetz, A. (2001). Agricultural productivity growth and escape from the Malthusian trap. *Journal of Economic Growth*, 6(4), 337-357. doi:10.1023/A:1012742531003

Leticia Avilés, Ingi Agnarsson, Patricio A. Salazar, Jessica Purcell, Gabriel Iturralde,
Eric C. Yip, . . . Todd C. Bukowski. (2007). Altitudinal Patterns of Spider
Sociality and the Biology of a New Midelevation Social Anelosimus Species in
Ecuador. *The American Naturalist*, 170(5), 783-792. doi:10.1086/521965

- Lin, Y.-H., Chan, S.-F., Rubenstein, D. R., Liu, M., & Shen, S.-F. (2019). Resolving the Paradox of Environmental Quality and Sociality: The Ecological Causes and Consequences of Cooperative Breeding in Two Lineages of Birds. *The American Naturalist, 194*(2), 207-216. doi:10.1086/704090
- Lipton, M. (1989). Responses to rural population growth: Malthus and the moderns. *Population and Development Review*, 15, 215-242. doi:10.2307/2807928
- Lomnicki, A. (1988). *Population Ecology of Individuals*. Princeton, N. J.: Princeton University Press.
- Lukas, D., & Clutton-Brock, T. (2017). Climate and the distribution of cooperative breeding in mammals. *Royal Society Open Science*, 4(1), 160897. doi:doi:10.1098/rsos.160897

Malthus, T. R. (1798). An Essay on the Principle of Population. Oxford: Oxford

University Press (1993 printing).

- May, R., & McLean, A. (2007). *Theoretical Ecology: Principles and Applications* (3rd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Melis, C., Jędrzejewska, B., Apollonio, M., Bartoń, K. A., Jędrzejewski, W., Linnell, J.
  D. C., . . . Zhyla, S. (2009). Predation has a greater impact in less productive environments: variation in roe deer, Capreolus capreolus, population density across Europe. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *18*(6), 724-734. doi:10.1111/j.1466-8238.2009.00480.x
- Molles, M. C. (2016). *Ecology: Concepts and Applications* (7th ed.). New York, N. Y.: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Monod, J. (1949). The growth of bacterial cultures. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, *3*, 371-394.
- Nordås, R., & Gleditsch, N. P. (2007). Climate change and conflict. *Political Geography*, 26(6), 627-638. doi:10.1016/j.polgeo.2007.06.003
- Ohtsuki, H., Hauert, C., Lieberman, E., & Nowak, M. A. (2006). A simple rule for the evolution of cooperation on graphs and social networks. *Nature*, *441*(7092), 502-505. doi:10.1038/nature04605
- Rainey, P. B., & Rainey, K. (2003). Evolution of cooperation and conflict in experimental bacterial populations. *Nature*, *425*(6953), 72-74.

doi:10.1038/nature01906

- Raleigh, C., & Kniveton, D. (2012). Come rain or shine: an analysis of conflict and climate variability in East Africa. *Journal of Peace Research*, 49(1), 51-64. doi:10.1177/0022343311427754
- Richerson, P. J., & Boyd, R. (1997). Homage to Malthus, Ricardo, and Boserup: toward a general theory of population, economic growth, environmental deterioration, wealth, and poverty. *Human Ecology Review*, 4(2), 85-90. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/24707031
- Rubenstein, D. R., & Lovette, I. J. (2007). Temporal Environmental Variability Drives the Evolution of Cooperative Breeding in Birds. *Current Biology*, 17(16), 1414-1419. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.07.032</u>
- Rutz, C., & Bijlsma Rob, G. (2006). Food-limitation in a generalist predator. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 273(1597), 2069-2076.
  doi:10.1098/rspb.2006.3507

Salinger, M. J. (2005). Climate Variability and Change: Past, Present and Future — an Overview. In J. Salinger, M. V. K. Sivakumar, & R. P. Motha (Eds.), *Increasing Climate Variability and Change: Reducing the Vulnerability of Agriculture and Forestry* (pp. 9-29). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.

Sanchez, A., & Gore, J. (2013). Feedback between population and evolutionary

dynamics determines the fate of social microbial populations. *PLOS Biology*, *11*(4), e1001547. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001547

- Scheffran, J., & Battaglini, A. (2011). Climate and conflicts: the security risks of global warming. *Regional Environmental Change*, 11(1), 27-39. doi:10.1007/s10113-010-0175-8
- Schluter, D., & Repasky, R. R. (1991). Worldwide limitation of finch densities by food and other factors. *Ecology*, 72(5), 1763-1774. doi:10.2307/1940975
- Schär, C., Vidale, P. L., Lüthi, D., Frei, C., Häberli, C., Liniger, M. A., & Appenzeller, C. (2004). The role of increasing temperature variability in European summer heatwaves. *Nature*, 427(6972), 332-336. doi:10.1038/nature02300
- Shen, S.-F., Emlen, S. T., Koenig, W. D., & Rubenstein, D. R. (2017). The ecology of cooperative breeding behaviour. *Ecology Letters*, 20(6), 708-720. doi:10.1111/ele.12774
- Slatyer, R. A., Hirst, M., & Sexton, J. P. (2013). Niche breadth predicts geographical range size: a general ecological pattern. *Ecology Letters*, 16(8), 1104-1114. doi:10.1111/ele.12140
- Slettebak, R. T. (2012). Don't blame the weather! Climate-related natural disasters and civil conflict. *Journal of Peace Research*, *49*(1), 163-176.

doi:10.1177/0022343311425693

- Smaldino, P. E., Schank, J. C., & McElreath, R. (2013). Increased Costs of Cooperation Help Cooperators in the Long Run. *The American Naturalist*, 181(4), 451-463. doi:10.1086/669615
- Steinmann, G., Prskawetz, A., & Feichtinger, G. (1998). A model on the escape from the Malthusian trap. *Journal of Population Economics*, *11*(4), 535-550.

doi:10.1007/s001480050083

- Strogatz, S. (2001). Nonlinear Dynamics And Chaos: With Applications To Physics, Biology, Chemistry, And Engineering (Studies in Nonlinearity). New York, N. Y.: Westview Press.
- Sun, S.-J., Rubenstein, D. R., Chen, B.-F., Chan, S.-F., Liu, J.-N., Liu, M., . . . Shen, S.F. (2014). Climate-mediated cooperation promotes niche expansion in burying beetles. *eLife*, *3*(e02440). doi:10.7554/eLife.02440
- Traulsen, A., & Nowak, M. A. (2006). Evolution of cooperation by multilevel selection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(29), 10952-10955.

doi:10.1073/pnas.0602530103

Urdal, H. (2005). People vs. Malthus: population pressure, environmental degradation, and armed conflict revisited. *Journal of Peace Research*, *42*(4), 417-434. doi:10.1177/0022343305054089

Walankiewicz, W. (2002). Nest predation as a limiting factor to the breeding population

size of the collared flycatcher Ficedula albicollis in the Białowieża National Park (NE Poland). *Acta Ornithologica, 37*(2), 91-106. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3161/068.037.0205

Wang, Z., & Goldenfeld, N. (2011). Theory of cooperation in a micro-organismal snowdrift game. *Physical Review E*, *84*(2), 020902.

doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.84.020902

Weitz, J. S., Eksin, C., Paarporn, K., Brown, S. P., & Ratcliff, W. C. (2016). An oscillating tragedy of the commons in replicator dynamics with gameenvironment feedback. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(47), E7518-E7525. doi:10.1073/pnas.1604096113

Wilson, E. O. (1987). Causes of ecological success: the case of the ants. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *56*(1), 1-9. doi:10.2307/4795

Wilson, E. O. (2012). The Social Conquest of Earth. New York, N. Y.: W. W. Norton.

Yurtsev, E. A., Chao, H. X., Datta, M. S., Artemova, T., & Gore, J. (2013). Bacterial cheating drives the population dynamics of cooperative antibiotic resistance plasmids. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 9(1), 683. doi:10.1038/msb.2013.39

Zhang, F., & Hui, C. (2011). Eco-evolutionary feedback and the invasion of cooperation in prisoner's dilemma games. *PLOS ONE*, *6*(11), e27523.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027523

6. Tables

Name	Value	Description
R <sub>0</sub>	[1, 20]	Environmental resource availability
$b_K$	[0.1, 6.5]	Cooperation efficiency
$\phi_K$	{0.0, 0.1, 0.2,,	Degree of cooperation
	1.0}	
Ι	40	Maximum resource increment rate
α	3	Maximum reproductive rate of an
		individual
β	0.5	The percentage decrease in the
		reproductive rate caused by per unit
		cooperation degree
Μ	1.0	Metabolic consumption of an individual
K <sub>s</sub>	2	Half-saturation constant
С	0.7	Maximum survival rate
$age_{const}$	2	A constant related to age
Α	5	The amplitude of environmental
		fluctuation
Р	1000	The period of environmental fluctuation

**Table 1:** Summary of model parameters.



# **Fig. 1: A schematic diagram for the model.** The diagram shows the process a population undergoes within one simulation time step. The red, yellow, green, and grey portions in the arrow on the left represent reproduction, dispersal, and survival stages in

individual life cycle, respectively. Red and green dots represent cooperators and

noncooperators, respectively, and lighter colors represent newborn individuals.



Fig. 2: Proportion of cooperators in populations in relation to environmental

resource availability and cooperation efficiency. Cooperative behavior is more likely to evolve when environmental conditions are harsh (i.e. low environmental resource availability) and when cooperation efficiency, an intrinsic property of individuals, is high.



Cooperation efficiency

Fig. 3: The outcome of the evolution of cooperation influenced by varying

environmental resource availability. (a)-(c) Mean proportion of cooperators in populations in relation to environmental resource availability as cooperation efficiency is (a) low ( $b_K = 1$ ), (b) medium ( $b_K = 3$ ), and (c) high ( $b_K = 5$ ). (d)-(f) Mean degree of cooperation that individuals exhibit in relation to environmental resource availability as cooperation efficiency is (d) low ( $b_K = 1$ ), (e) medium ( $b_K = 3$ ), and (f) high ( $b_K =$ 5). Points represent means and bars represent standard deviations. Each mean and standard deviation is calculated on the output data of 500 simulations.



**Fig. 4: Comparison of the relationship between total reproductive output and cooperation benefit of groups in different environments. (a)-(b)** Total reproductive output of groups in relation to their cooperation benefit in (**a**) harsh and (**b**) benign environments. Each point represents a group's condition. The results are extracted from the early stage (the end of the 100<sup>th</sup> time step) of the simulations to see how cooperation benefits influence the reproductive output at the evolving stage.



Fig. 5: The combined effects of environmental resource availability and degree of cooperation on population size. (a)-(c) Population size in relation to environmental resource availability when cooperation efficiency is (a) low ( $b_K = 1$ ), (b) medium ( $b_K = 3$ ), and (c) high ( $b_K = 5$ ). Points represent means and bars represent standard deviations. Each mean and standard deviation is calculated on the output data of 500 simulations.



Fig. 6: Population dynamics and relative variability in population size in a

**fluctuating environment. (a)-(b)** Time series of the population size of **(a)** non-social populations and **(b)** social populations in the fluctuating environment. **(c)-(d)** The time-lagged cross correlation between the population dynamics and the environmental

fluctuation for (c) nonsocial populations and (d) social populations. (e)-(f) The frequency spectra of the population size variation standardized by mean, which are derived from fast Fourier transformation, are shown for (e) nonsocial populations and (f) social populations. Each line is the average of the output data of 500 simulations.



**Fig. 7: Degree of cooperation changes with the fluctuation of environmental resource availability.** Time series of (**a**) the proportion of cooperators and (**b**) the individual average degree of cooperation of social populations in a fluctuating environment. Each line is the average of the output data of 500 simulations.



Fig. S1: The evolutionary outcome and the population size of non-structured

**populations.** (**a**) The proportion of cooperators, (**b**) the individual average degree of cooperation, and (**c**) the population size in relation to the environmental resource availability as the populations are not structured.